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PROJECT OVERVIEW

A. INTRODUCTION AND DEFINITION OF GEOGRAPHIC AREA

Purpose and Scope of the Historic Context

This historic context statement applies to the Uptown Community Planning Area (Planning
Area), and was prepared in conjunction with the City of San Diego’s Uptown Community Plan
Update. The information contained in this document will be used to identify locations within
Uptown that may contain significant historical resources. In addition, this document will be used
to shape the Historic Preservation element of the Community Plan Update.

Uptown spans a number of districts and neighborhoods in San Diego’s urban core. Located north
of downtown and adjacent to Balboa Park, the Planning Area encompasses nearly 2,700 acres
and contains the smaller communities of Park West, Middletown, Mission Hills, Hillcrest, the
Medical Complex area, as well as the western half of University Heights." The Planning Area is
bounded by the steep hillsides of Mission Valley to the north; Presidio Park, Old Town and
Interstate 5 to the west and south; and Balboa Park and Park Boulevard to the east (Figure 1).
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Figure 1. Map of the Uptown Planning Area, showing boundaries.
Source: Uptown Community Plan (1988)

! City of San Diego Planning Department, Uptown Community Plan (1988), 3.
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Aside from general location and topography, Uptown’s constituent districts and neighborhoods
are remarkably distinct. To account for differences in neighborhood character, this historic
context makes specific reference to each neighborhood (Park West, Middletown, Mission Hills,
Hillcrest, the Medical Complex area, as well as the western half of University Heights). Whereas
the identification of these neighborhoods eases analysis and provides a sense of geographic
orientation, it should be noted that, in actuality, their boundaries overlap and are much more
fluid.

Historical Overview of the Planning Area

Prior to the arrival of Spanish explorers in the eighteenth century, the Uptown study area was
sparsely populated due to its distance from streams and other freshwater sources. The area
remained largely undeveloped as California passed through Spanish and Mexican hands, and it
was not until the early American period that developers took note of Uptown’s uplands and
mesas. For the most part, early development was speculative and was limited to the acquisition
and subdivision of expansive parcels.

The completion of a transcontinental rail line in 1885 catalyzed the first notable wave of
development in Uptown. At the time, speculation still abounded, but a substantial number of
homes were constructed near the southern border of Uptown, in present-day Park West. Over the
next two decades, new development shifted north towards present-day Hillcrest and University
Heights, due in large part to the construction of several public transit lines. Development at this
time was primarily residential, but by the early 1900s the area was also home to several
businesses, a state Normal School and a popular public park.

Development activity accelerated once more in anticipation of the much awaited 1915 Panama-
California Exposition. In addition to private homes, numerous apartments, hotels, businesses,
churches and institutions were constructed across Uptown and shaped its communities into
discernible streetcar suburbs. By the 1920s, both Park West and Hillcrest were almost entirely
developed, and the more distant communities of University Heights and Mission Hills were
nearly built out by the 1930s.

Following the Great Depression and World War 1I, Uptown was the target of several
redevelopment efforts and witnessed a considerable amount of physical change. Due to the
scarcity of available land for development, many older buildings were replaced with larger
buildings including both residential and commercial properties. Development from this era
reflected Post-War American values and design trends, such as automobile oriented commercial
development and Modern design in both residential and commercial buildings.

Today, Uptown is perhaps best characterized in terms of its diversity. In recent years, both Park
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West and Hillcrest have continued to experience redevelopment and contain an eclectic mix of
turn-of-the-century residences, streetcar-era homes and businesses, postwar infill projects and
contemporary high rises. Despite being bisected by Interstate 5 and Highway 163, Uptown still
contains cohesive blocks of historic structures, especially in Park West, Hillcrest, and University
Heights. In addition, Mission Hills has retained its historic fabric and contains a sizable
concentration of single family homes dating from the 1910s, 1920s and 1930s.

B. RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

This historic context statement was developed primarily through archival research, and
synthesizes information collected from a variety of primary and secondary sources. In addition to
consulting the historical resource files at the City Planning and Community Investment
Department, research was conducted at the San Diego Public Library, the San Diego Historical
Society, and the libraries at the University of California, San Diego and San Diego State
University.

Primary sources included historic maps, photographs, newspapers, and media advertisements.
Specifically, original subdivision maps, in conjunction with Sanborn fire insurance maps, were
evaluated to ascertain the broad patterns of development within the Planning Area. Historic
photographs provided imagery of the community’s evolving landscape, predominant building
types and architectural styles. Other primary materials were collected from the archives of the
San Diego Union.

Secondary sources were consulted to supplement primary materials, and included later accounts
of history recorded in a variety of books, essays, journal, theses and previous historic resource
assessments. While some of these sources provide information specific to Uptown, others convey
the historical development of the Planning Area in the broader context of San Diego history.

C. IDENTIFICATION OF HISTORIC CONTEXTS AND PERIODS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Uptown Community Planning Area embodies several historic contexts, each of which
reflects a notable period of development within the community. While some of these contexts are
unique to the study area, others are tied to larger historical trends and can be applied to additional
communities in San Diego. Generally, the following contexts and periods of significance follow
a chronological framework:

= Early History (1769-1885)
= The Railroad Boom and its Aftermath (1885-1909)
= The Panama-California Exposition and Streetcar Suburbs (1909-1929)
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= Great Depression and World War 11 (1929-1948)
= Postwar Development, Suburbanization, the Automobile, & Modernism (1948-1970)
= Neighborhood Revitalization (1970-present)

Each of these contexts and periods of significance, as well as their corresponding property types,
are laid out in further detail in the following section.

D. EVALUATION CRITERIA

City of San Diego Register

Although based on NRHP and CRHR criteria, the City of San Diego designation criteria differ in
order and quantity from the federal and state registers. The Historical Resources Guidelines of
the Land Development Manual (a supplement to the Municipal Code) states that any
improvement, building, structure, sign, interior element, fixture, feature, site, place, district or
object may be designated as historical by the City of San Diego Historical Resources Board
(HRB) if it meets one or more of the following criteria:

A. Exemplifies or reflects special elements of the City's, a community's or a neighborhood's
historical, archaeological, cultural, social, economic, political, aesthetic, engineering,
landscaping or architectural development.

B. Isidentified with persons or events significant in local, state or national history.

C. Embodies distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period or method of construction or
is a valuable example of the use of indigenous materials or craftsmanship.

D. Is representative of the notable work of a master builder, designer, architect, engineer,
landscape architect, interior designer, artist or craftsman.

E. Is listed or has been determined eligible by the National Park Service for listing on the
National Register of Historic Places or is listed or has been determined eligible by the
California State Office of Historic Preservation for listing on the California Register of
Historical Resources.

F. Is a finite group of resources related to one another in a clearly distinguishable way or is
a geographically definable area or neighborhood containing improvements which have a
special character, historical interest or aesthetic value or which represent one or more
architectural periods or styles in the history and development of the City.

In addition to meeting one or more of the above criteria, a City of San Diego Register-eligible
property must also retain sufficient integrity to convey its significance. Although the City’s
municipal code does use a 45 year threshold to review properties which may be adversely
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impacted by development, a property need not be 45 years of age to be eligible for listing on the
City’s register. In addition, the recently adopted Guidelines for the Application of Historical
Resources Board Designation Criteria provide guidance on the application of local designation
criteria.

Though the order and quantity of the San Diego criteria differ from the NRHP and California
CRHR the following parallel relationships can be established:

NRHP and CRHR Criteria San Diego (HRB) Criteria
Criterion A/Criterion 1 HRB Criterion B (events)
Criterion B/Criterion 2 HRB Criterion B (persons)
Criterion C/Criterion 3 HRB Criteria C and D
Criterion D/Criterion 4° HRB Criterion A (archaeology)

HRB Criterion A is not directly addressed through NRHP or CRHR criteria as it refers to a
special element of the City’s, a community’s, or a neighborhood’s historical, cultural, social,
economic, political, aesthetic, engineering, landscaping, or architectural development . As stated
in the Guidelines for the Application of Historical Resources Board Designation Criteria
adopted by the City’s HRB, “Special elements of development refer to a resource that is distinct
among others of its kind or that surpass the usual in significance.” When Criterion A is applied
to archaeological resources it does closely align with NRHP Criterion D or CRHR Criteria 4.
Therefore, this document will consider HRB Criterion A separately from the other NRHP/CRHR
criterion within the registration requirements for each property type.

HRB Criterion E is only applied to properties determined eligible for the NRHP or CRHR,;
therefore, registration requirements related to this criterion are not necessary. In addition, HRB
Criterion F is applied to contributors in historic districts, but the district is determined eligible
under one of the other criteria (HRB A-D); therefore registration requirements will not be
addressed in this document.

Integrity

In addition to establishing significance, resources must have historical “integrity.” Integrity is
defined as the ability of a resource to convey its significance through the property’s physical
features and how those features relate to the property’s significance within its “period of
significance.” For historic resources a “period of significance” is the date or span of time which
reflects the significance of the architecture; or within which significant events transpired or
significant individuals made their important contributions in relation to the resource in question.

2 NRHP Criterion D and CRHR Criterion 4 typically apply to archaeological resources. The pre-contact period of
Golden Hill will be addressed in a separate document and analysis under this criterion will be addressed at that time.

6-
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The seven aspects of integrity include location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling,
and association. These aspects of integrity are defined in the National Register Bulletin: How to
Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation as follows:

e Location is the place where a resource was constructed or where an event occurred.

e Design results from intentional decisions made during the conception and planning of a
resource. Design includes form, plan, space, structure, and style of a property.

e Setting applies to a physical environment, the character of a resource’s location, and a
resource’s relationship to the surrounding area.

e Materials comprise the physical elements combined or deposited in a particular pattern
or configuration to form a property.

¢ Workmanship consists of the physical evidence of crafts employed by a particular
culture, people, or artisan, which includes traditional, vernacular, and high styles.

o Feeling relies on present physical features of a property to convey and evoke an aesthetic
or historic sense of past time and place.

e Association directly links a historic property with a historic event, activity, or person of
past time and place; and requires the presence of physical features to convey the
property’s historic character.
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HISTORIC CONTEXT

EARLY HISTORY: 1769-1885

Native American, Spanish, Mexican and Early American Periods

In the years preceding European contact, Southern California was home to an estimated 10,000
Native Americans, many of whom were settled throughout the San Diego vicinity.® The uplands
and mesas of Uptown, however remained largely uninhabited at this time, due to lack of fresh
water sources, though sources indicate the presence of a small Native American settlement near
the western border of Balboa Park.”

Upon the arrival of Gaspar de Portola and Father Junipero Serra in 1769, indigenous settlements
were uprooted and replaced with the Spanish land use system, which consisted of the presidio,
pueblo and mission. It was during the Spanish period of California history (1769-1822) that most
of San Diego, including Uptown, was placed under the jurisdiction of the Mission San Diego de
Alcala. Despite its proximity to the presidio, Uptown remained a distance from population
centers, and experienced no development in the years marked by Spanish occupation. This trend
of relative inactivity persisted into the Mexican period (1822-1846), when the mission lands
were transformed into vast cattle ranchos.

Following the Mexican American War and the ratification of the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo in
1848, California was admitted to the United States and the expansive ranchos lost their
prominence. In subsequent years, a series of federal legislation encouraged Americans to move
west and establish homesteads, Native Americans who could neither own nor purchase land,
were often relegated to marginal rancherias, most often on the fringes of development. One such
rancheria occupied the southwestern corner of the Planning Area, near the present-day
intersection of India and Cedar streets.”

Aside from the Indian rancheria, development in Uptown remained stagnant until a group of real
estate speculators, led by attorney Thomas Sutherland, purchased 687 acres near Uptown’s
western border and established the Middletown tract in 1850. Thereafter, the tract was surveyed
and subdivided into streets and blocks, and plans called for the construction of five public
squares and an open community lot known as the Triangle.® At the time, however, San Diegans
had little incentive to relocate from their settlement at Old Town, and plans for Middletown
failed to materialize.

® Richard Pourade, The Explorers (San Diego: Union Tribune Publishing Company, 1960).
* City of San Diego Planning Department, 3.
® Stephen Van Wormer and Susan Walter, Uptown Historic Context and Oral History Report (2003), 10-11.
6 -
Ibid.
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Speculation and the Influence of Alonzo Horton

Among the most significant events in the early history of Uptown occurred in 1867, when real
estate magnate Alonzo Horton purchased 960 acres and established Horton’s Addition (Figure
2). While the focal point of his subdivision was New Town San Diego, Horton’s Addition also
encompassed a sizable portion of Uptown. This included the area approximately bounded by
present-day Front and Upas streets, Sixth Avenue and Interstate 5. Initially, the 50 x 100-foot
lots in Horton’s Addition sold for $125 apiece, but to encourage development Horton offered
free parcels to those who constructed a substantial home.’
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Figure 2. Map of Horton’s Addition to San Diego.
Source: Elizabeth MacPhail (1979)

The success of Horton’s venture encouraged other eager speculators to follow suit. In 1869,
Captain Henry James Johnston, skipper of the merchant vessel S.S. Orizaba, purchased 65 acres
of pueblo lands near Mission Hills. The following month, Johnston capitalized on his investment
by selling half of the acreage to Ormsby Hite, his first mate, for a 700 percent profit. ® Though he
intended to construct his home on the property, this failed to materialize and the property
remained undeveloped upon Johnston’s death in 1878. It was later subdivided by his daughter
who was said to have attained it for “love, affection and $1.” S

7 -

Ibid. 13.
8 Jerry MacMullen, “The Orizaba — and Johnston Heights,” The Journal of San Diego History 5.3 (1959).
9 -

Ibid.
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Land speculation in Uptown accelerated during the early 1870s, when the Texas and Pacific
Railway Company announced its intent to construct a transcontinental rail line to San Diego.
Within Horton’s Addition alone, nearly $83,000 in property sales was recorded in the two
months following the company’s announcement.™ In 1872, touted by boosters as San Diego’s
“year of awakening”, a large parcel near Johnston’s property in Mission Hills was purchased.
Speculators Cyrus Arnold and Daniel Choate purchased the property and jointly filed a
subdivision map for Arnold and Choate’s Addition later that year.'

Demand for real estate abruptly decreased, however, when the Financial Panic of 1873 left the
Texas and Pacific Railway unable to fund the construction of a transcontinental rail line. While
numerous parcels in Uptown had been sold prior to the bust, very little construction had taken
place. Many settlers, who had financed their purchase on installment plans, defaulted on their
payments and fled San Diego altogether.> Without the demand for real estate, development
activity in Uptown ceased for the remainder of the 1870s.

In its early years, therefore, Uptown failed to evolve into the neighborhood envisioned by such
investors as Horton, Johnston, Hite and Arnold and Choate. Rather, the area remained
undeveloped and sparsely populated, as development activity at this time consisted primarily of
speculation and subdivision. Among the few extant resources from this period include remnants
of the former Calvary Cemetery (HRB # 5) in Mission Hills’ Pioneer Park, which was
established by Father Antonio Ubach in 1874 and has earned the distinction of San Diego’s
oldest civilian cemetery.*®

Very few built resources from this period remain extant in Uptown. Though land was
subdivided, few buildings were constructed during this period due to the financial collapse of the
1870s. Properties that were constructed were residential and were constructed in the latter part
of the period for wealthier San Diegans. Generally, these homes were large, multi-storied and
designed in Victorian or period revival style architecture.

19 Elizabeth C. MacPhail, The Story of New San Diego and of its Founder Alonzo E. Horton (San Diego: San Diego
Historical Society, 1979), 48.

 Vaughn.

2 william Ellsworth Smythe, History of San Diego: 1542-1908 (San Diego: The History Company, 1908).

B3 City of San Diego, “Calvary Cemetery Site,” Historical Resources Report (1968).

-10-
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A. THE RAILROAD BOOM AND EARLY RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT: 1885-1909

Completion of the California Southern Railroad

Development activity in Uptown remained stagnant until Southern California experienced a
period of unprecedented economic growth in the mid-1880s. After years of planning and
construction, the California Southern Railroad was completed in 1885 and connected San Diego
with the transcontinental Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe line at its hub in Barstow.** In San
Diego, the completion of the railroad touched off the “Great Boom” between the years 1885 and
1887, wherein the city experienced a population increase unparalleled in its history.

Not only did the railroad transform the rural outpost of San Diego into a mainstream American
town, but its construction pushed development onto the Uptown mesa for the first time. Among
the first buildings constructed in anticipation of the railroad’s arrival was W.W. Bowers’
Florence Hotel between Third, Fourth, Fir and Grape streets (Figure 3). Upon its completion in
1884, the three-story hotel emerged as a San Diego social center, but was perceived as being “in
the sticks” given its isolation from the city’s business district.*> Said Judge Thomas J. Hayes:

The Florence Hotel in those days was then, way out of town, or so it seemed...as I stood at the
side of the hotel and looked about, I could see little but wild country. There was a big flock of
sheep near the hotel, but off where the fine city park now is there was little but sagebrush and
cactus. It did not look much then as if the city would build up that far for a long time, but in a
comparatively few short months it had spread far beyond that — largely on paper, it is true, but it
actually spread pretty fast.'®

The Florence was demolished in 1947, but at the site remains a Moreton Bay fig tree which dates
from the hotel’s initial construction (HRB # 53).17

Figure 3. The Florence Hotel, at the corner of Fourth and Fir streets.

Source: Elizabeth MacPhail (1979)

'* MacPhail, 65-66.

** Ibid, 67.

' Hillcrest History Guild, “The Florence Hotel,” http://www.hillquest.com/history/florence.html
17 Arthur Ribbel, “The Old Florence Sat High on the Hill, Looking Out to Sea,” San Diego Union.

-
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In close proximity to the Florence Hotel was Alonzo Horton’s personal residence (not extant),
which he constructed on First Street, between Fir and Grape (Figure 4). Completed in 1885, the
two-story, twelve-room house embodied Italianate style architecture and was adorned by rich,
redwood interiors and marble detailing.*® For many years, Horton’s mansion was regarded as
being among the finest homes in all of Southern California, but like the Florence was relatively
isolated atop the Uptown mesa.

Figure 4. The Italianate mansion of Alonzo Horton.
Source: Elizabeth MacPhail (1979).

Rapid population growth, coupled with a sharp increase in property values, regenerated interest
in the speculation and subdivision of Uptown real estate in the mid-1880s. Despite its distance
from the city center, an area in Hillcrest bounded by present-day Upas and Robinson streets,
Sixth Avenue and State Route 163 was acquired and subdivided by General Thomas Crittenden
in 1887.1° In 1889, Harriett Brookes and her four daughters purchased several acres northwest of
Crittenden’s Addition and, in a remarkable feat for women at the time, established Brooke’s
Addition later that year.”°

At one point, the demand for real estate was so great that speculators subdivided areas several
miles from the business district. After receiving title to her father’s Mission Hills property in

'8 MacPhail, 71.

9 Bruce Kamerling, “Self-Guided Walking Tour of Seventh Avenue,” The Journal of San Diego History 36 (1990),
2-3.

? City of San Diego, “Brookes Family House,” Historical Resources Report (2004).

-12-
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1887, Sarah Johnston Cox, daughter of Captain Henry James Johnston, renamed the acreage
Johnston Heights and subdivided it into residential lots. To attract prospective homebuilders,
Cox constructed a model home at the center of the subdivision, named the Villa Orizaba (HRB #
330), and in its construction incorporated remnants of her father’s disassembled ship.?
Originally, the house was a simple cottage with Queen Anne elements, but has since been
renovated into a Vernacular Prairie-style residence.

Also in 1887, a syndicate of businessmen organized the College Hill Land Association and
jointly filed a subdivision map for University Heights (map # 558) near Uptown’s northeastern
corner. Within the community, streets were laid out in a rectilinear grid, and the names of U.S.
presidents were chosen for all east-west streets, while north-south streets were named after
states. An artificial lake was planned between Maryland and Johnston streets and Lincoln
Avenue.? Initially, parcels within the subdivision were offered on installment plans, provided
the owner agreed to construct a home worth at least $1000 within 90 days of their purchase.?

To induce homebuilders to University Heights, which was on the periphery of the city, the
Association marketed the subdivision as a college community and promised that the San Diego
College of Arts — a proposed branch of the University of Southern California — would be
constructed at its center.”* However, plans to construct the college campus were aborted soon
thereafter, and the attempt to establish a college-centered community never advanced beyond the
planning stages.”

The Great Boom came to an end by the spring of 1888 as Southern California’s real estate
bubble abruptly burst and tens of thousands of San Diegans, many of whom had become “paper
millionaires”, were left near penniless (Figure 5).° While many tracts in Uptown had been
surveyed and subdivided between 1885 and 1887, most real estate transactions were speculative
and involved the sale of vacant parcels, most often at inflated rates. In effect, distant subdivisions
near Hillcrest, Mission Hills and University Heights remained rural upon the Boom’s collapse.

?1 City of San Diego, “Villa Orizaba,” Historical Resources Report (1995).
%2 Michele Brooks, “1880s Map Gave University Heights a Lake,” The Mid City Press (31 Mar. 1989).
8 MacPhail, 95.
 University Heights Historical Society, Cable Cars and Ostrich Feathers: A Self-Guided Walking Tour of
gniversity Heights (San Diego: Save our Heritage Organisation, 2006), 4.
Ibid.
?® MacPhail, 100.

-13-
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Figure 5. Fourth and Elm streets, for sale signs upon the collapse of the Great Boom.
Source: Elizabeth MacPhail (1979)

Early Residential Development

Despite its eventual collapse, the Great Boom touched off development in the Planning Area for
the first time. Between the years 1880 and 1888, San Diego’s population increased from 2,637 to
approximately 40,000, and the demand for housing associated with this population surge pushed
new construction out of New Town, towards the Florence Hotel to the north.?” In the early
months of 1888, prior to that year’s economic downturn, more than 100 homes were constructed
in Uptown. These were built primarily in the section north of New Town but south of Laurel
Street.”

At the height of the economic boom, this section of Uptown, now referred to as Park West,
emerged as a fashionable new residential district. The area’s proximity to the central business
district, coupled with its unobstructed views of the harbor, attracted some of San Diego’s most
esteemed citizens, who purchased lots and constructed homes within the neighborhood. Among
the first homes in Uptown were constructed for such prominent figures as Judge Elisha Swift
Torrance, at 136 Juniper Street (HRB # 94); entrepreneur and inventor Henry Timken, at 2508
First Avenue (HRB # 38); and John Long, president of the Coronado Fruit Packing Company, at
2408 First Avenue (HRB # 37) (Figure 6).

*" Ibid, 66.
% City of San Diego Planning Department, 5.

_14-
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M -

Figure 6. The Long-Waterman House at 2408 First Avenue (HRB # 37)
Source: San Diego Historical Society

Reflective of the era, many of the community’s early homes were styled in accordance with
Victorian period architectural styles. Nearing the end of the Victorian period, these structures
embodied many characteristics of the Queen Anne style such as asymmetric massing; steeply-
pitched gabled roofs; ornamental towers and turrets; and richly embellished, “whimsical”
facades.”® Many homes constructed at the peak of the railroad boom In Uptown are attributed to
established masters John Stannard, George Sphor, Comstock and Trotsche and John Sherman.

Some of these Victorian-era structures have since been demolished, but others are extant and
retain architectural integrity. Among the most remarkable examples of Queen Anne structures in
Uptown include the aforementioned Judge Torrance House at 136 Juniper Street (HRB # 94),
designed by John Stannard in 1887; the Britt Scripps House at 406 Maple Street (HRB # 52),
constructed in 1887 and 1888; the Timken House at 2508 First Avenue (HRB # 38), designed by
Comstock and Trotsche in 1888; and the Long-Waterman House at 2408 First Avenue (HRB #
37), erected in 1889.

In addition to the civic elite, the Uptown community appealed to the middle class and the

# |eland M. Roth, American Architecture (Boulder: Westview Press, 2003), 242.

-5
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upwardly mobile as well. A number of modest homes were constructed in the Planning Area
during this period. These homes also featured Victorian-era architectural styles and details but
were constructed by builders and carpenters, not architects, and were generally not as complex in
form, ornament and scale.*® Generally, middle-class homes were interspersed throughout
Horton’s Addition, though a cluster of modest homes attributed to Master Builder John Sherman
was constructed between Front, First, Fir and Grape streets in the late 1880s.%

Despite the wave of home construction in Uptown during the late 1880s due to the souring
economy, the community was not densely developed. While single-family homes were
constructed near the Florence Hotel, the amount of vacant land superseded that of developed
properties. Development in Middletown, Mission Hills, Hillcrest and University Heights was
generally confined to the Park West vicinity, near Uptown’s southern edge.

At this time, new construction in Uptown consisted almost exclusively of single-family homes.
Presumably, the area’s abundance of available land, coupled with its remote location on the
city’s fringe, dissuaded developers from constructing denser, more urbane multifamily
structures. However, a handful of stores, a lodging house and a “colored church” developed on
the Fifth Street corridor, along which a horse-drawn streetcar ran to provide access between New
Town and the Florence Hotel.*?

The Aftermath and Physical Impact of the Great Boom

The 1880s collapse of Southern California’s railroad boom proved devastating to San Diego.
Although San Diego’s population rapidly decreased and its real estate plummeted in value, a
group of politicians, boosters and entrepreneurs were undaunted and proceeded to initiate a
variety of capital improvement projects around the city.*® With regard to Uptown, these efforts
materialized into graded streets, mass transit networks, municipal parks and a state college in the
1890s, all of which facilitated development and helped to shape the Planning Area into an
established community.

Streets and Mass Transit Networks

In addition to Uptown’s residential development in the 1880s, improvements were undertaken on
the area’s network of streets and transit corridors. Upon the completion of the railroad in 1885,
Fifth Avenue was graded as far north as lvy Street, and soon after Cedar, Date and Elm streets,
as well as Third and Fourth avenues were paved.>* Between 1886 and 1889, an estimated 10

% |one R. Stiegler and Vonn Marie May, Uptown Historic Architectural and Cultural Landscape Reconnaissance
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* Ibid, 100.
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million dollars was expended by the city to pave all the streets between the waterfront and Date
Street.* Three years later, Fifth Avenue was paved between “A” and University Avenue, as well
as University Avenue east to La Mesa.*®

It was also in the midst of the Great Boom that mass transit networks began to serve the Uptown
communities for the first time. Given their relative youth, however, transit operators were
overwhelmed by frenzy and confusion during the 1880s and 1890s. With no agreement by city
leaders on a general plan, public transit was privatized and interurban franchises were in
competition with each other to capitalize on the speculative development of newly subdivided
land. These franchises utilized varying types of streetcars to serve Uptown, as well as greater San
Diego. However, most of the transit companies failed shortly after their creation due to
competition from other rail lines and the faltering economic conditions. Overall, public transit in
Uptown was speculative, like the real estate, and these businesses collapsed at the end of the
boom.

In 1886, Elisha S. Babcock and Hampton L. Story formed the San Diego Streetcar Company
(SDSC). SDSC generally served the area between Uptown and the central business district. The
horse and mule-drawn streetcars ran from Fifth and L Streets down to D Street, then down D
Street to the bay.

In 1888, Babcock and Story constructed the Park Belt Motor Road, also known as the City &
University Heights Railroad and University Heights Motor Road.*” The line connected
downtown, City Heights, University Heights and Hillcrest via a ten-mile loop that traveled
through City Park (now Balboa Park) and Switzer Canyon to Marlborough Street, then south on
Fifth Avenue to downtown. The purpose of the Park Belt Motor Road was to lure prospective
buyers to the newly established real estate developments surrounding City Park, such as
University Heights, from a downtown terminal at 18" and A Streets.® However, the route went
into receivership and shut down just a year after it opened.*

Only a year after Babcock and Story established the City’s first public transit system, the latest
technological innovation in public transit appeared in San Diego. The newly formed Electric
Rapid Transit Company (ERTC) introduced electric streetcars to San Diego in 1887.%° The
company routed a line through Uptown, via Fourth Street from G Street to Fir Street.
Eventually, the line was extended up Fourth Street to University Avenue to Normal Street and

% MacPhail, 103.
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then to University Heights.** However, the company folded in 1889 due to the real estate bust
and a failed legal battle with San Diego Gas & Electric.

Following the failure of both horse-drawn and electric streetcars, the newly formed San Diego
Cable Railway Company (SDCR) implemented a cable car system (Figure 7). The SDCR was
organized in 1888 by John C. Fisher, David D. Dare and C.W. Collins. The company took over
the failed ERTC and built a cable car system which connected the downtown business district
and Uptown via Fourth Street, and terminated at its powerhouse on the southwest corner of
Fourth and Spruce streets.*? In 1891, the line was extended east to University Heights via
University Avenue, Normal Street and Park Boulevard, and terminated at Adams Avenue. Once
complete, the route measured a distance of 4.7 miles and employed over 51,000 feet of cable
wire.”®

Figure 7. The San Diego Cable Railway at Fourth and Spruce streets.
Source: San Diego Historical Society (https://www.sandiegohistory.org/collections/streetcar/images/7852.jpg)

In an attempt to attract patrons, the SDCR developed a five-acre park at the line’s northern
terminus (Adams Avenue) in, what was then, the sparsely populated University Heights
neighborhood. The park was established as an attractive recreation area and to promote travel on
the cable car line. Due to its location overlooking Mission Valley, the park was named “The
Bluffs” and featured a few trees as well as a pavilion designed by prominent local architect
William S. Hebbard.** Hebbard, in partnership with Irving Gill, would later design the nearby
Classical Revival style State Normal School (c. 1898), continuing to spur development in
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University Heights. However, the SDCR folded only 13 months after it opened due to
competition from other rail lines and an economic recession.*

In 1895, entrepreneur George Kerper reorganized the San Diego Cable Railway Company as the
Citizens Traction Company.* Kerper electrified the former cable line and replaced the cable
winding steam engines at the powerhouse with two electric generators.*” Overhead electric lines
were also installed where the streetcars would receive power. Kerper also transformed “The
Bluffs” into more of an amusement park than a recreational area. He renamed it Mission Cliffs
Park and installed a merry-go-round, playground, shooting gallery and other attractions. Under
Kerper’s tutelage, Mission Cliffs Park became “the place to go on Sunday afternoons.”*
However, like those before, Kerper and his company went into receivership in 1898 during the
height of a nationwide depression.*

In 1891, John D. Spreckels formed the San Diego Electric Railway Company (SDER) and
sought to purchase every streetcar franchise, or run them out of business, in order to create a
uniform electric streetcar transportation system.> Spreckels acquired a stake in the horse-drawn
San Diego Streetcar Company when he bailed out the Hotel del Coronado. In 1892, Spreckels
bought the remaining interest in the company for $115,000. Spreckels also acquired the National
City & Otay Railway and the Coronado Railroad.

Spreckels purchased the Citizens Traction Company soon after it folded in 1898 and
incorporated it into the SDER. In his purchase, Spreckels also obtained the tracks, streetcars, the
power plant, and other assets associated with the rail line. Spreckels kept five streetcars and
widened the right-of-way from Fifth Street and University Avenue up to Mission Cliff Park.>*
The tracks along Fourth Street were abandoned and eventually removed in 1903.

Mission Cliff Gardens

Spreckels also obtained Mission Cliff Park as well as 327 lots in University Heights formerly
held by Kerper and his Citizens Traction Company.®* Soon after its acquisition, Mission Cliff
Park was renamed Mission Cliffs Garden in conjunction with John D. Spreckels desire to
transform the park into a serene botanical garden rather than an amusement park (Figure 8) . In
1904, landscape gardener John Davidson was hired to redesign the park grounds. Davidson
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planted trees, designed a Japanese garden, installed paths, benches and pergolas, and constructed
retaining walls from stones extracted from the property’s native s0il.>® That same year, Harvey
Bentley relocated his ostrich farm from Coronado to property adjacent to the par